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1. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC17-00725 
CASE NAME:  INSALACO; LOMAX VS COCOCO 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE:  TO STRIKE AND TAX COSTS 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 

Plaintiffs Robert Insalaco and Leslie Lomax move to strike or tax costs of defendant West 

County Wastewater District.  The two items in question are both under Line 16, Other: Mediator costs 

of $1,500 and copying costs of $482.91. 

As to the mediation costs, plaintiffs argue that “there is no equitable basis to allow these 

costs here as all parties bore the same, and all parties voluntarily agreed, without court order, to 

participate.”   In response, the District states that the description of “mediation costs” was an error, 

because the entry actually refers to costs of the Special Master, Robert Bellagamba.  This was done 

pursuant to a stipulated order, which provided that the Special Master’s fees would be “apportioned 

equitably among the parties.”  The services of the Special Master were necessary and reasonable 

under the circumstances.  The agreement to share those costs cannot fairly be interpreted to waive 

the right to seek cost recovery in the event that a party prevails.  The motion to strike the Special 

Master costs is denied. 

As to copying costs, plaintiffs argue that photocopying expenses are expressly nonrecoverable 

under code of Civil Procedure section 1033.5(b)(3) and Travelers Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Employers Ins. of 

Wausau (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 99, 117.  The District concedes these costs are not recoverable, and 

those costs of $482.91 are stricken. 

 
 

  
    

2. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC19-00662 
CASE NAME:  MICHELLE DAVIS VS.  PETSMART INC DELAWARE CORPORATION 
 SPECIAL SET HEARING  MOTION FOR FINAL APPROVAL OF CLASS SETTLEMENT 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 

Plaintiffs Michelle Davis, Kristina Clark, Kelsey Nelson-Stark, and Marie Riley move for final 
approval of their class action and PAGA settlement with defendant PetSmart, Inc., including approval 
of attorney’s fees and costs, settlement administrator costs, and plaintiffs’ representative incentive 
payments.   

A. Background and Settlement Terms 

The original complaint was filed by Davis, Nelson-Stark and Riley on March 29, 2019, under 
PAGA only, alleging only a claim for failure to provide suitable seating.  On May 15, 2019, Clark filed a 
class action alleging various violations of wage and hour requirements, as well as a suitable seating 
claim.  On January 3, 2020, Clark filed a First Amended complaint also adding a PAGA claim.  That 
matter was removed to federal Court, a Second amended Complaint was filed, and the case was 
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remanded to this court. The two cases were consolidated, by stipulation and order, on August 2, 
2021. 

The settlement would create a gross settlement fund of $6,000,000.  The class representative 
payment to each plaintiff would be $7,000.  Counsel’s attorney’s fees would be $2,000,000 (one-third 
of the settlement).  Litigation costs would not exceed $35,000.  The settlement administrator 
(Simpluris) would have costs of administration set aside of $36,000.  PAGA penalties would be 
$400,000, resulting in a payment of $300,000 to the LWDA and $100,000 to the class members.  As 
estimated at the time of preliminary approval, the net settlement amount available to the class would 
have been $4,498,000, resulting in an average payment to each of the estimated 8,598 class members 
of about $523.  The fund is non-reversionary.  The payments will be allocated 80% to penalties and 
interest and 20% to wages.  Payroll taxes will be paid separately by PetSmart. 

PetSmart also agreed to implement changes in its procedures, including providing additional 
seats (two to each store), posting notices in break rooms, obtaining signed acknowledgements 
indicating whether breaks were offered and taken, and configuring of the timekeeping system to flag 
missed, late, or short meal periods. 

The proposed settlement would certify a class of sales representatives and non-exempt 
employees employed by defendant in California between May 13, 2015, to the date of preliminary 
approval, excluding those who have previously settled claims in two other cases.   

The class members will not be required to file a claim.  Class members may object or opt out 
of the settlement.  The distribution of the PAGA payment and the “Class Member” payment will be 
based on the number of pay periods worked during the PAGA Period and Class Member Period, 
respectively.  The settlement also will provide for payments of the employee share of “PAGA 
aggrieved” employees who are not members of the certified class. 

 Various prescribed follow-up steps will be taken with respect to mail that is returned as 
undeliverable.  Uncashed checks would be cancelled and the amounts would be tendered to the 
Unclaimed Property Division of the State Controller’s Office.     

Plaintiffs will broadly release all claims that “could have been asserted in the Lawsuit arising 
from the alleged facts and/or primary rights alleged to have been invaded to the fullest extent 
permitted by law.” The Court notes that the reference to claims “arising from the alleged facts” can 
be critical in ascertaining the extent of preclusive effect of the judgment.  (See Amaro v. Anaheim 
Arena Management, LLC (2021) 69 Cal.App.5th 521, 535-536 [petition for review filed November 8, 
2021].)  

PetSmart produced “thousands of pages of information, including time and payroll records of 
putative class members which reflect time punches at the start of employees’ shifts, at the beginning 
and end of the meal period, and at the end of the shift, as well as the applicable pay rates.”  (Hawkins 
Dec., Par. 6.)  The matter settled after extensive arms-length negotiations, with an experienced 
mediator.  The parties reached an agreement in principle about October 16, 2020. 

Counsel also has provided quantitative analysis of the case, based on the information 
obtained during the litigation, e.g., workweeks, rates of pay, and random sample of time records and 
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wage statements.  The estimated number of workweeks is 383,641 and the average hourly rate of pay 
is $13.11.  Counsel estimates the maximum theoretical value (basically assuming that there was a 
violation for every employee on every shift) of the meal break claim at $9 million, for the rest period 
claim at about $19 million, for failure to timely pay wages at about $19 million, and for failure to 
provide accurate wage statements at $600,000.  Of course, all of these theoretical maxima provide a 
point of departure, but do not reflect an actual analysis based on various risks associated with the 
merit of the claim, evidence issues, class certification issues, and the burden of litigation. Thus, actual 
value is estimated at far lower figures, e.g., failure to timely pay wages is estimated at just under $1 
million, rest period claims also estimated at just under $1 million, meal break claims at $4.5 million).  
Claims for PAGA penalties, estimated by counsel at a theoretical maximum of $47 million, are difficult 
to evaluate for a number of reasons: they derive from other violations, they include “stacking” of 
violations, the law may only allow application of the “initial violation” penalty amount, and the total 
amount may be reduced in the discretion of the court. 

The LWDA was notified of the settlement.  Initial pre-suit notices were filed. 

Since preliminary approval, the settlement administrator mailed 23,134 notices (5,259 to 

settlement class members, and 17,882 to PAGA aggrieved employees.  (The number of PAGA 

aggrieved employees turned out to be substantially higher than initially determined, and the Court 

approved a stipulated request to increase the Administrator’s costs by order of April 7, 2022.)  1,031 

were returned as undeliverable.  Follow-up resulted in remailing at new addresses to 969 people.  62 

notices were still undeliverable.  No requests for exclusion were received, no one raised a dispute to 

their calculated payment, and no one objected to the settlement.  The average payment is 

approximately $661. 

B. Legal Standards 

The primary determination to be made is whether the proposed settlement is “fair, 
reasonable, and adequate,” under Dunk v. Ford Motor Co. (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1794, 1801, 
including “the strength of plaintiffs’ case, the risk, expense, complexity and likely duration of further 
litigation, the risk of maintaining class action status through trial, the amount offered in settlement, 
the extent of discovery completed and the state of the proceedings, the experience and views of 
counsel, the presence of a governmental participant, and the reaction … to the proposed settlement.”  
(See also Amaro v. Anaheim Arena Management, LLC, supra, 69 Cal.App.5th at 534-535.) 

Because this matter also settles PAGA claims, the Court also must consider the criteria that 

apply under that statute. Recently, the Court of Appeal’s decision in Moniz v. Adecco USA, Inc. (2021) 

72 Cal.App.5th 56, provided guidance on this issue. In Moniz, the court found that the “fair, 

reasonable, and adequate” standard applicable to class actions applies to PAGA settlements.  (Id., at 

64.)  The Court also held that the trial court must assess “the fairness of the settlement’s allocation of 

civil penalties between the affected aggrieved employees[.]”  (Id., at 64-65.) 

California law provides some general guidance concerning judicial approval of any settlement.  
First, public policy generally favors settlement.  (Neary v. Regents of University of California (1992) 3 
Cal.4th 273.)  Nonetheless, the court should not approve an agreement contrary to law or public 
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policy.  (Bechtel Corp. v. Superior Court (1973) 33 Cal.App.3d 405, 412; Timney v. Lin (2003) 106 
Cal.App.4th 1121, 1127.)  Moreover, “[t]he court cannot surrender its duty to see that the judgment 
to be entered is a just one, nor is the court to act as a mere puppet in the matter.”  (California State 
Auto. Assn. Inter-Ins. Bureau v. Superior Court (1990) 50 Cal.3d 658, 664.)  As a result, courts have 
specifically noted that Neary does not always apply, because “[w]here the rights of the public are 
implicated, the additional safeguard of judicial review, though more cumbersome to the settlement 
process, serves a salutatory purpose.”  (Consumer Advocacy Group, Inc. v. Kintetsu Enterprises of 
America (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 48, 63.) 

C. Attorney fees, costs, and representative payments 

Plaintiffs seek one-third of the total settlement amount as fees, relying on the “common 

fund” theory.  Even a proper common fund-based fee award, however, should be reviewed through a 

lodestar cross-check.  In Lafitte v. Robert Half International (2016) 1 Cal.5th 480, 503, the Supreme 

Court endorsed the use of a lodestar cross-check as a way to determine whether the percentage 

allocated is reasonable.  It stated:  “If the multiplier calculated by means of a lodestar cross-check is 

extraordinarily high or low, the trial court should consider whether the percentage used should be 

adjusted so as to bring the imputed multiplier within a justifiable range, but the court is not 

necessarily required to make such an adjustment.”  (Id., at 505.)   

At the time of preliminary approval, the Court directed counsel to provide information for a 

lodestar cross-check in connection with the motion for final approval, and counsel has done so.  

Counsel attest that they spent a total of 653.6 hours on the case, and calculated a lodestar of 

$489,587.  This results in an implied multiplier of 4.08. 

Counsel have documented the hourly rates in question: Clapp $925, Lauinger $825, Hawkins 

$900, Fernandez $850, Dacre $650, Cook $450, Perez $775, Ozzello $775, Greene $545, Harman-

Holmes $505, Hall $485, Brouillette $485, and Waldrop $295.  In the context of a lodestar cross-

check, none of these rates are problematic.  The evidence does show that work was divided among 

attorneys charging at different rates, which shows an effort to be efficient. 

While there is precedent for an award of fees based on a multiplier of three to four, an 

implied multiplier of four is unusual, and requires close examination by the Court. 

A number of issues must be considered here.  First, the fees were contingent on prevailing, 

and accordingly, some adjustment for the risk of loss is appropriate. As to preclusion of other 

employment, there may be some preclusion, but a total of about 650 hours over three firms, spread 

over three years, suggests that it was not substantial. Another consideration is the result obtained.  In 

this instance, the result includes injunctive relief concerning the seating policy (provision of two chairs 

per store), and documentation and notice concerning breaks, which have some value.  As to the 

monetary relief, counsel’s estimated value of the meal, rest, and failure to pay wages claims added up 

to about $6.5 million.  Thus, it is an excellent result based on their estimated value.    

Before the initial hearing of this motion, the Court issued a tentative ruling in which it 

concluded that a multiplier is appropriate here, but not 4.0.  The Court tentatively awarded fees of 
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$1,000,000, which still would constitutes an implied multiplier of 2.04.  At the hearing on the motion, 

counsel requested the opportunity to brief the issue, which the Court granted. 

The Court has reviewed the supplemental submission.  In reviewing the briefing, one would 

get the impression that the Court had held counsel to the lodestar fee, declining to recognize the 

reasons why multipliers are appropriate, and why a common-fund based fee provides the ordinary 

benchmark.  But the Court tentatively awarded a fee that amounted to an implied multiplier of 2.04, 

which is higher than typically awarded in cases of this nature.  The Court agrees that the lodestar 

cross check “does not override the trial court’s primary determination of the fee as a percentage of 

the comment fund and thus does not impose an absolute maximum or minimum on the potential fee 

award.”  (Lafitte, supra, 1 Cal.5th at 505.)  But the Court has a duty to protect the class, and in some 

cases that duty requires that the fee be reduced.    

Counsel do not appear to dispute that an implied multiplier of 4.08 is at the high end of what 

ordinarily is permitted.  The issue is whether there is anything about this case that justifies a higher 

than usual fee.  As noted previously, the case did not involve exceptional risk—this type of case nearly 

always settles.  It is complex, but not especially novel, since the claims made here are common.  The 

resolution after three years of litigation is not especially early, even allowing for delays associated 

with the pandemic.  The injunctive relief has some value, but is not extraordinary, either in expense 

to defendant or benefit to the class.  Counsel will be well-compensated for their work, and the 

possibility that an attorney’s fee could be reduced to a multiplier of “only” two in a given case would 

not discourage counsel from taking this type of case. 

 Accordingly, the Court awards attorney’s fees of $1 million.  The difference between the 

awarded fee and the proposed fee will be used to proportionately augment the awards to the class. 

 Litigation costs of $27,386.51 are reasonable and are approved. 

The settlement administrator’s costs of $68,000 are reasonable and are approved, even 

though they exceed the initially authorized amount of $36,000.  As noted above, this was caused by 

misinformation concerning the size of the PAGA aggrieved employees, not the class members, and 

was previously approved by this Court by order of April 7, 2022. 

The requested representative payment of $7,000 for each of the four plaintiffs was deferred 

until this final approval motion.  Criteria for evaluation of such requests are discussed in Clark v. 

American Residential Services LLC (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 785, 804-807.   

Kristina Clark, Michelle Davis, Kelsey Nelson-Stark, and Marie Riley have provided 

declarations, attesting to the hours that they spent on the case (Clark 50-70, Davis 25-30, Nelson-

Stark 25-30, Riley 25-30).  Each faced potential liability for costs, and possible stigma within the 

industry, but none have documented any special concern.  Each released individual claims, but none 

have indicated that they had any individual claims of particular value.  All things considered, 

particularly the total amount of the recovery, the request for $7,000 each is granted. 
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D. Discussion 

The moving papers sufficiently establish that the proposed settlement is fair, reasonable, and 

adequate. The Court also views the limitation of the release language to “facts alleged in the 

complaint” as material to the approval.   The Court, however, reduces the attorney’s fees to $1 

million. 

E. Conclusion 

The ultimate judgment must provide for a compliance hearing after the settlement has been 

completely implemented.  Plaintiffs’ counsel are to submit a compliance statement one week before 

the compliance hearing date.  5% of the attorney’s fees are to be withheld by the claims 

administrator pending satisfactory compliance as found by the Court. 

 
 

  
    

3. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC19-00972 
CASE NAME:  KERRI K. AND JACOB K. VS STATE OF CALIFORNIA ET AL 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE:  ENTRY OF JUDGMENT 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 

Hearing required. 

Plaintiffs, through their guardians ad litem,  and State Defendants (State of California, State 

board of Education, State Department of Education, and Superintendent of Public Instruction Tony 

Thurmond, move for entry of judgment pursuant to stipulation.  Although the matter is a putative 

class action, no class has been certified.  After the submission of the motion, the parties submitted a 

declaration pursuant to Rule of Court 3.770 

There are two claims against the State defendants in the Third Amended Complaint.  The First 

cause of action is for violations of Education Code section 56000 (right to a Free and Appropriate 

Education), and alleges that the plaintiffs “suffer, will suffer, or have suffered, irreparable harm, 

including substantial losses of educational opportunities[.]”  (TAC, Par. 244.)  It seeks injunctive and 

declaratory relief.  The Third Cause of Action alleges that State Defendants have violated plaintiffs’ 

right to receive equal protection of the laws, under the California Constitution.  It does not specify any 

particular relief sought pursuant to that cause of action, although the prayer for relief (Par. 5) 

generally seeks compensatory and punitive damages. 

Exhibit A is a settlement agreement that provides the basis for the dismissal of the class 

action claims.  It specifically provides that it does not bind any members of the putative class other 

than the individual plaintiffs.  The individual plaintiffs’ claims against State Defendants will be 

dismissed with prejudice.  The consideration for the agreement is the injunctive relief provided and 

attorney’s fees.  Under the terms of the agreement (II.A.), defendant Department of Education will 

conduct specified review, technical assistance, and training with respect Marchus school.  Subject to 
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legislative appropriation, State Defendants will pay $500,000 in attorney’s fees to plaintiffs’ counsel. 

Code of Civil Procedure section 372 provides that a guardian ad litem “shall have power, with 

the approval of the court in which the action or proceeding is pending, to compromise the same, to 

agree to the order or judgment to be entered therein[.]”  

Probate Code section 2504 requires that approval of a minor’s compromise be obtained 

where the claim is (a) for the support, maintenance, or education of the minor; (b) a claim for 

wrongful death; or (c) a claim for “physical or nonphysical harm to the person.”  Where such a 

petition is required, it must use the Judicial Council Mandatory Forms.  (Rule of Court 1.31, 7.101.)  

Assuming, arguendo, that the causes of action against the State Defendants here do not 

encompass “physical or nonphysical harm to the person,” Code of Civil Procedure section 372 

nonetheless requires court approval.  This necessarily implies that the Court must find that the 

settlement is in the best interest of the minors.  This in turn requires some showing concerning the 

nature of the case and the settlement. 

This is consistent with case law concerning judicial approval of any settlement.  First, public 
policy generally favors settlement.  (Neary v. Regents of University of California (1992) 3 Cal.4th 273.)  
Nonetheless, the court should not approve an agreement contrary to law or public policy.  (Bechtel 
Corp. v. Superior Court (1973) 33 Cal.App.3d 405, 412; Timney v. Lin (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 1121, 
1127.)  Moreover, “[t]he court cannot surrender its duty to see that the judgment to be entered is a 
just one, nor is the court to act as a mere puppet in the matter.”  (California State Auto. Assn. 
Inter-Ins. Bureau v. Superior Court (1990) 50 Cal.3d 658, 664.)  As a result, courts have specifically 
noted that Neary does not always apply, because “[w]here the rights of the public are implicated, the 
additional safeguard of judicial review, though more cumbersome to the settlement process, serves a 
salutatory purpose.”  (Consumer Advocacy Group, Inc. v. Kintetsu Enterprises of America (2006) 141 
Cal.App.4th 46, 63.) 

The Court recognizes that this is not a certified class action, and therefore neither the 
detailed procedures nor substantive review required in those cases applies here.  Nonetheless, the 
Court’s tentative view is that the motion must be supplemented with some information enabling it to 
determine that the settlement is in the minors’ best interest.  The parties should appear to discuss 
the nature of such a showing and the timing of a supplemental submission. 
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4. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC20-00204 
CASE NAME:  MACHAIN VS SST SENIOR CARE 
 HEARING IN RE:  APPROVING SETTLEMENT OF CLAIMS 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 

Blanca Machain moves for approval of the settlement of her PAGA suit against defendant 

SST Senior Care.  The Court initially heard the matter on May 12, 2022, but requested supplemental 

briefing on particular issues and continued the matter.  This order sets forth the initial tentative ruling 

and request for supplemental information (Part I) and then addresses the new information and makes 

its final ruling.  (Part II.) 

I. Initial Tentative Ruling 

A. Background of the Case and Terms of Settlement 

This a PAGA case (not a class action), alleging a variety of violations of the Labor Code 

concerning failure to provide rest and meal breaks, failure to pay minimum wages and overtime, and 

cascading derivative violations. Defendant provides medical care for elderly patients.  

The total settlement payment is $95,000.  This is composed of attorney’s fees of $31,666.66 

(one-third of the recovery), $10,063.84 in in litigation costs, and up to $4,200 in costs to the 

settlement administrator (Phoenix).   PAGA penalties of $44,133.34 would be apportioned 75% to the 

LWDA and 25% to the aggrieved employees.  

Counsel’s motion indicates that there are an estimated 308 covered employees.  The 

payments from the employee share of the penalty ($11,033.33) will be distributed among the 

employees based on the number of pay periods each individual worked during the Released period. 

The average employee share will be about $35. 

Plaintiff’s counsel attests that informal discovery was undertaken, and the settlement was 

reached after a session with an experienced mediator. 

Plaintiff provided required notices to the LWDA of the initial claims and of the proposed 

settlement. 

The settlement provides a process for mailing the notices to the aggrieved employees, who 

will not have to submit a claim, along with a process for following up on returned mail.  The 

information needed for the notices will be provided within ten days after the “effective date,” which 

is ten business days after entry of an order approving the settlement.  The actual date on which 

notice would be provided is not specifically stated.  The payments themselves, however, would be 

made within ten business days of the “Final funding date,” which is the date of the last installment 

payment.  (Pars. 55-57.) The draft letter to the employees does not state how many pay periods have 
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been calculated, so the employee would have no basis for raising a dispute. 

Payments by defendant are made in eight installments spread out over eleven months.  

Presumably, a failure to make an installment would constitute a breach of the agreement, which 

could be remedied by a motion under Code of Civil Procedure section 664.6.  The agreement does not 

contain an acceleration clause or other specific remedy. 

The settlement provides that the value of checks uncashed after 180 days “shall be remitted 

to the California Department of Industrial Relations-Unclaimed Wage Fund.  Such a fund exists under 

Labor Code section 96.7, but the DIR website provides that the Labor Commissioner’s fund does not 

accept such funds from private settlements.  (See “Unpaid Wage Fund FAQs” 

[www.dir.ca.gov/dlse/Unpaid-Wage-Fund-FAXs.pdf].)  There is a similar fund, the Controller’s 

unclaimed property fund, which is often used in such cases.   

The agreement does not specify when payments would be made to the LWDA, the 

administrator, or counsel.  The settlement does not provide for any further review by the Court of 

compliance with its terms.  

Specified PAGA claims, “and any claims which could have been pled under the PAGA based on 

the factual allegations in PAGA Complaint and the LWDA Letter, including, but not limited to 

misclassification claims, that arose during the PAGA Period” would be released.  (Par. 16.)  

(The complaint does not appear to contain any allegations concerning misclassification.)  It also 

provides that the parties intend to fully resolve all PAGA claims “based on the factual allegations in 

this litigation from January 30, 2010 through the date of entry of a Court order granting approval of 

this Settlement.”  (Par. 35.) The “PAGA Period” is defined as January 30, 2019 through and including 

until October 8, 2021.”  (Par. 15.)  (It appears to the Court that the 2010 date could be an error.) 

The proposed order provides that on approval of the settlement, the action is dismissed with 

prejudice.  (Proposed Order, Par. 7.) This would not be allowed in a class action, by virtue of a specific 

provision of the Rules of Court.  (Rule 3.769(h).)  The Court questions whether this is appropriate in a 

PAGA case. 

B. Standards for Review of a PAGA Settlement 

Recently, the Court of Appeal’s decision in Moniz v. Adecco USA, Inc. (2021) 72 Cal.App.5th 

56, provided guidance on this issue. In Moniz, the court found that the “fair, reasonable, and 

adequate” standard applicable to class actions applies to PAGA settlements.  (Id., at 64.)  The Court 

also held that the trial court must assess “the fairness of the settlement’s allocation of civil penalties 

between the affected aggrieved employees[.]”  (Id., at 64-65.) 

California law provides some general guidance concerning judicial approval of any settlement.  
First, public policy generally favors settlement.  (Neary v. Regents of University of California (1992) 3 
Cal.4th 273.)  Nonetheless, the court should not approve an agreement contrary to law or public 
policy.  (Bechtel Corp. v. Superior Court (1973) 33 Cal.App.3d 405, 412; Timney v. Lin (2003) 106 
Cal.App.4th 1121, 1127.)  Moreover, “[t]he court cannot surrender its duty to see that the judgment 
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to be entered is a just one, nor is the court to act as a mere puppet in the matter.”  (California State 
Auto. Assn. Inter-Ins. Bureau v. Superior Court (1990) 50 Cal.3d 658, 664.)  As a result, courts have 
specifically noted that Neary does not always apply, because “[w]here the rights of the public are 
implicated, the additional safeguard of judicial review, though more cumbersome to the settlement 
process, serves a salutatory purpose.”  (Consumer Advocacy Group, Inc. v. Kintetsu Enterprises of 
America (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 46, 63.) 

C. Application to this settlement 

Plaintiff indicates that the settlement is fair, and was evaluated by counsel based on 
adequate information and arms-length negotiation.  Counsel estimate that the maximum theoretical 
value for their claims was $466,400, based on a $100 penalty for each employee pay period in the 
“Released Period,” without “stacking” claims.  Of course, some reduction must be made for the 
strength of the case, and the time and expense of obtaining recovery.  Even assuming success on the 
merits of each claim, PAGA gives the court discretion to reduce penalties for a variety of reasons, 
including where “based on the facts and circumstances of the particular case, to do otherwise would 
result in an award that is unjust arbitrary and oppressive, or confiscatory.” (Labor Code, § 2699(e)(2).) 
These factors make the result hard to predict.   

Plaintiff has attested to incurring $11,803.04 in litigation costs.  

Labor Code section 2699(g)(1) provides that a prevailing employee in a PAGA action may 

recover attorney’s fees.  Plaintiff seeks 33.3% of the total settlement amount as fees, relying on the 

“common fund” theory.  Even a proper common fund-based fee award, however, should be reviewed 

through a lodestar cross-check.  In Lafitte v. Robert Half International (2016) 1 Cal.5th 480, 503, the 

Supreme Court endorsed the use of a lodestar cross-check as a way to determine whether the 

percentage allocated is reasonable.  It stated:  “If the multiplier calculated by means of a lodestar 

cross-check is extraordinarily high or low, the trial court should consider whether the percentage 

used should be adjusted so as to bring the imputed multiplier within a justifiable range, but the court 

is not necessarily required to make such an adjustment.”  (Id., at 505.)  Although Lafitte concerns a 

class action, not a PAGA-only case, this Court views the use of a lodestar cross-check as appropriate 

here.  Counsel have provided only a general description of the work undertaken, with no estimated 

lodestar based on hours worked and a reasonable hourly rate.  This is not sufficient to enable the 

Court to evaluate the reasonableness of the fees. 

The statute does not expressly address how the 25% plaintiff’s share of the penalties is to be 
allocated among all of the aggrieved employees.  (Iskanian v. CLS Transp. Los Angeles, LLC (2014) 59 
Cal.4th 348, 382.)  One court has held, however, that the entire 25% share of penalties could not be 
awarded to the plaintiff.  (Moorer v. Noble L.A. Events, Inc.  (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th 736, 742-743.)  In 
Moorer, the plaintiff had claim worth about $9,500, yet was collecting penalties of $148,000, and 
keeping the entire employee share, causing the court to be concerned that the plaintiff had lost sight 
of the fact that the purpose of the action is to benefit the public, not private parties.  In this case, the 
settlement does not provide any enhanced payment to Ms. Machain.  Allocation based on pay 
periods is reasonable here. 
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D. Conclusion 

Hearing required.  The Court requires further information in the following areas: 

(1) A lodestar cross-check for the attorneys fee request; 

(2) The basis for inclusion of misclassification claims in the release; 

(3) Clarification of plaintiff’s remedies in the event of a default in the installment 

payments;  

(4) Revision of the disposition of uncashed checks; 

(5) Clarification of whether and how an employee could contest their proper 

allocation; 

(6) Clarification when the notices will be sent; 

(7) Whether a dismissal with prejudice, as opposed to a judgment incorporating the 

terms of the settlement, is the appropriate disposition. 

If the settlement ultimately is approved, counsel will be directed to prepare an order 

including the Court’s ultimate order, the other provisions submitted in the proposed order, and a 

corresponding judgment.  The order would include a compliance hearing for a suitable date chosen in 

consultation with the Department’s clerk.  One week before the compliance hearing, counsel shall file 

a compliance  

statement.  10% of the attorney’s fees shall be withheld by the Administrator pending the compliance 

hearing. 

II. Ruling After Submission of Supplemental Briefing 

Plaintiff has now submitted additional information, which the Court discusses below. 

(1) A lodestar cross-check for the attorneys fee request; 

Counsel has submitted a declaration attesting that his firm has spent at least 107.87 hours 

litigating this matter, which at Mr. Lo’s “customary hourly rate of $550 per hour, would create a 

lodestar of $59,328.50.  A detailed time log documenting the hours is provided, although no basis for 

the hourly rate is provided.  Based on the one-third of the settlement, however, the actual fee 

request is $31,666.66.  Accordingly, given that this is only a “lodestar cross-check,” the 

documentation is sufficient to enable the Court to conclude that no adjustment in the proposed fee is 

necessary. 

(2) The basis for inclusion of misclassification claims in the release; 

In their initial response to the tentative ruling, plaintiff refers to the initial LWDA letter, in 
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which it states that “Complainant and Aggrieved Employees were non-exempt employees.” (Lo Dec., 

Ex. 3.)  The response, however, did not indicate whether the issues raised involved any actual dispute 

over whether the employees had been misclassified and that was the basis for the failure to page 

wages, or simply that the violations occurred for other reasons.  Reviewing the complaint, it alleges 

numerous wage violations, but at no point does it allege that any non-exempt employees were 

misclassified, or that that was the reason for the violations.  Thus, the Court continued the matter 

again to allow this issue to be addressed.  Counsel has now responded with a declaration indicating 

that, after consultation with defense counsel, they agree that misclassification claims are not covered 

by the release.  Counsel have not submitted, however, a revised version of (or addendum to) the 

agreement modifying Paragraph 16 to delete the reference to misclassification claims. 

(3) Clarification of plaintiff’s remedies in the event of a default in the 

installment payments;  

The settlement provides for payment by eight installments over eleven months.  The parties 

have revised the stipulation to provide that in the event of a missed payments, all remaining 

payments are due in 30 days.  This at least assures that within a short period of time, there would be 

a complete default, which should enable plaintiff to file a motion under Code of Civil Procedure 

section 664.6. 

(4) Revision of the disposition of uncashed checks; 

The parties have revised the stipulation to provide that uncashed checks will be tendered to 

the State Controller’s Unclaimed Property Fund. 

(5) Clarification of whether and how an employee could contest their proper 

allocation; 

The settlement still does not provide any method to contest the allocation.  Plaintiff argues that the 

amount is small (about $35 per person), and it is unlikely that the administrator’s information would 

be inaccurate.  Counsel also points out that establishing such a procedure would raise the settlement 

administrator’s fee from $4,200 to $7,000, which would consume nearly a quarter of the $11,033.33 

being disbursed.  Balancing the competing factors, the Court will approve this provision. 

(6) Clarification when the notices will be sent; 

The Court may have misunderstood the applicable provision.  It appears that 

the notices will be sent within ten days of the final installment payment. 

(7) Whether a dismissal with prejudice, as opposed to a judgment 

incorporating the terms of the settlement, is the appropriate disposition. 

Counsel advises that the previous provision in the proposed order approving the settlement 

providing for dismissal of the action has been deleted.  The parties have not provided a judgment 
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incorporating the terms of the settlement, which should be done. 

The settlement is approved, subject only to the parties executing a modification to Paragraph 

16 deleting the reference to release of misclassification claims. Counsel are directed to prepare an 

order including the Court’s ultimate order, the other provisions submitted in the proposed order, and 

a corresponding judgment.  The order would include a compliance hearing for a suitable date chosen 

in consultation with the Department’s clerk.  One week before the compliance hearing, counsel shall 

file a compliance statement. 10% of the attorney’s fees shall be withheld by the Administrator 

pending the compliance hearing. 

 
 

  
    

5. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC20-01017 
CASE NAME:  DE LA TORRE VS STEAD, ET, AL. 
 SPECIAL SET HEARING  COMPLIANCE HEARING 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
The Court has received the administrator’s declaration attesting to compliance with the terms of the 
prior order.  The administrator is authorized to make the required payment to the cy pres recipient 
and to release the 10% attorney’s fees hold-back to counsel.  No further proceedings are 
contemplated. 
 

 

  
    

6. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC20-01316 
CASE NAME:  SMITH VS CITY OF CONCORD 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE:  FOR PARTIAL JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
 Plaintiff moves for partial judgment notwithstanding the verdict on his causes of action for 

battery and under the Bane Act.   

To briefly summarize, plaintiff Rex Smith brought this action against the City of Concord and 

Officer Shaun Parsley on a variety of theories, based on an incident in which a Concord police officer, 

after a traffic stop, took him to the ground and tased him (twice).  After a jury trial, the jury found for 

defendants on each cause of action. 

 More specifically, Smith moves that the Court grant partial judgment in his favor on his claim 

for Battery and his claim under the Bane Act., on the ground that there is no substantial evidence to 

support the jury’s verdict on either of these two claims. 

Facts: 

Parsley observed Smith driving too fast and recklessly through a parking lot, at night, and 
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activated his lights and made a traffic stop.  Smith stopped and got out of his car.  Parsley shouted for 

him to get back in, but he did not, instead taking a couple of steps toward a nearby 7-Eleven, and 

saying “why?”  Parsley went to Smith and grabbed him by the elbow.  Smith pulled away (to some 

degree), and Parsley took Smith to the ground.  Smith went to the ground on all fours.  Parsley yelled 

“get on the ground,” and when Smith did not move, Parsley kneed Smith in the ribs, then saying “get 

all the way on the ground.” Parsley put the taser on Smith’s back (1:12 of the body camera video) and 

held it there, while Smith was still on all fours.  Parsley said “get all the way on the ground,” and 

Smith then got on his stomach on the ground, putting his hands behind his back.  Everything was calm 

for a short time. (1:20 to 1:42.)  Smith then moved his hand toward his front pocket of his shorts.  

Parsley said “put your other hand behind your back.”  Smith didn’t.  Parsley told him again.  He still 

didn’t.  Parsley tased Smith. (1:47.) Smith made an immediate grunting/wailing noise.  It is very 

difficult from the tape to see when the second taser fire occurred, but it could not have been more 

than a few seconds, because at 1:52 Smith’s hand moved to behind his back (although it may have 

been pulled back by Parsley), and the second tasing clearly did not happen after that.  Parsley 

testified that he fired the taser the second time because he was not sure the first one had been 

effective.   

Smith was arrested and taken to the hospital, where he was treated and released, and then 

taken to the Concord jail for booking. 

Smith’s motion revolves around two particular steps in this process: (1) the initial control hold 

and take-down; and (2) the second tasing. He claims that each of those acts constituted unreasonable 

force. 

Legal Standard: 

“A JNOV must be granted where, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to 

the party securing the verdict, the evidence compels a verdict for the moving party as a 

matter of law.”  (Oakland Raiders v. Oakland-Alameda County Coliseum, Inc. (2006) 144 

Cal.App.4th 1175, 1194.)  Unlike a motion for new trial, in which a judge may weigh evidence, 

“[t]he court may not weigh the evidence or judge the credibility of the witnesses. A motion 

for judgment notwithstanding the verdict of a jury may properly be granted only if it appears 

from the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the party security the verdict, that 

there is no substantial evidence to support the verdict.  If there is any substantial evidence, or 

reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom, in support of the verdict, the motion should be 

denied.” (Tun v. Wells Fargo Dealer Servs., Inc. (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 309, 333. [citing Sole 

Energy Co. v. Petrominerals Corp (2005) 128 Cal.App.4th 212, 226-227; internal citations 

omitted, emphasis in original].)  

Application to this evidence: 

With respect to the second tasing, plaintiff relies on portions of the officer’s body 
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camera footage, which was reviewed in great detail, broken down in second-by-second 

increments, and explained by the witnesses.  Smith contends that the footage clearly shows 

that the first taser firing was effective, and indeed incapacitated him.  Thus, he was unable to 

move his hand due to the tasing, and Parsley knew it.  Smith points out that in the hospital 

afterward, Smith and Parsley spoke, and when Smith said that he could not move his hand, 

Parsley said “I know” and “yeah.”  On the other side, however, Parsley testified that he 

believed the first tasing was not effective.  Smith contends, however, that this was not 

objectively reasonable.  As to the admission by Parsley, the jury apparently did not think that 

the conversation could bear that much weight.  In the aftermath of the incident, Parsley and 

Smith were cooling off and trying make the best of a difficult situation.  The jury was not 

required to give that conversation determinative weight, or much weight at all, nor is it the 

province of the Court in this motion to decide the amount of weight it should have been 

given. 

The Court must consider that Smith’s act of reaching for his front pocket created an 

immediate threat to which the officer needed to respond quickly.  Plaintiff does not, at least 

in this motion, dispute the reasonableness of the first tasing.  Having watched the footage in 

slow motion and stop-action numerous times, it does appear that the first tasing was 

effective, but it is difficult to tell when the second tasing occurred.  But the officer had to 

decide in the moment, and viewing the event in real time, the matter is not definitive.  Since 

the Court cannot determine Parsley’s credibility, or reweigh the jury’s view of the evidence, 

the Court cannot find that there was no substantial evidence to support the verdict. 

 With respect to the initial control hold and takedown, Smith argues that while he did 

not get back in the car as directed, but instead took a couple of steps toward the 7-Eleven, he 

stopped, and merely asked Parsley some questions.  That was enough, however, to justify a 

control hold. 

The takedown is a close question.  Smith did pull away—but not enough to justify an 

inference that he was trying to escape, at least not in retrospect, having watched the video 

numerous times.  But Parsley had to decide in real time, and his determination to take Smith 

to the ground must be viewed in the light of that circumstance. 

Conclusion: 

 The motion for partial judgment notwithstanding the verdict is denied. 
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7. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC20-01316 
CASE NAME:  SMITH VS CITY OF CONCORD 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE:  INTENTION TO MOVE FOR PARTIAL NEW TRIAL 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 

Plaintiff Rex Smith brought this action against the City of Concord and Officer Shaun 

Parsley on a variety of theories, based on an incident in which a Concord police officer, after 

a  traffic stop, took him to the ground and tased him (twice).  After a jury trial, the jury found 

for defendants on each cause of action. 

Smith seeks a partial new trial on grounds that fall into three general categories: (1) 
the verdict was contrary to the instructions due to irregularities in the deliberations; (2) there 
were irregularities in the proceedings arising from the Court’s failure to prevent certain 
witnesses from giving non-responsive answers; and (3) the evidence was not sufficient to 
support the verdicts as to the existence of unreasonable force.  Each ground will be discussed 
in turn. 

As an initial matter, plaintiff objects to defendant’s late opposition brief.  Pursuant to 
Code of Civil Procedure section 659a, based on the filing of plaintiff’s supporting brief, the 
opposition was due ten days later, on July 5, 2022.  Had defendants applied for an extension, 
an extension would have been granted to 20 days after filing of the brief, i.e., July 15th.  The 
Court has discretion to grant such an extension retroactively.  Plaintiff relies on Kabran v. 
Sharp Memorial Hospital (2017) 2 Cal.5th 330.)  Kabran, however, did not consider filing of 
an opposition brief, it considered timely filing of affidavits in support of the motion for new 
trial, and whether the requirements are jurisdictional.  The Court held that the requirements 
are not jurisdictional, and therefore failure to object to late filing in the trial court precludes 
an objection on appeal. (Id., at 347.)  It partly overruled Erikson v. Weiner (1996) 48 
Cal.App.4th 1663, and partly distinguished it on the ground that the opposing party had 
objected below.  Nothing requires that the late opposition be stricken.  Given the extended 
scheduling for the hearing of the motion, the late filing did not prejudice plaintiff, and the 
motion to strike the opposition is denied. 

(1) Contrary to Instructions due to Irregularities in the deliberations 

The jury was given a special verdict form requesting verdicts on four different causes 
of action.  The issues and the votes were as follows 

No. 1 (Battery): 3 yes (Jurors 2, 4, 9), 9 no. 

No. 2 (Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress): 1 yes (Juror 2), 11 no. 



SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
MARTINEZ, CA 

DEPARTMENT 39 
HEARING DATE:  08/11/2022 

 

 

 

 

No. 3 (Free Speech/Bane Act): 0 yes, 12 no. 

No. 4 (Right to be Free from Excessive Force): 3 yes (Jurors 2, 4, 9), 9 no. 

Two additional questions on damages were not addressed, because of the answers on the 
first four questions. 

 Plaintiff submits declarations from three of the jurors.  Alexander Izmailov (Juror 9 ),  
states that “During jury deliberations nine or more jurors agreed that the second tasering of 
Mr. Smith by Officer Parsley was excessive and unreasonable.”  Two other jurors, Angel 
Ramos (Juror 2) and Susan Rose (Juror 4), stated that “during jury deliberations, all jurors 
voted and nine or more voted that the second tasering of Mr. Smith by Officer Parsley was 
excessive and unreasonable.  This vote was made by a raising of hands by the jurors.”    

First, the Court must determine whether these statements are admissible.  The Court 
notes that the verdict form provided for one finding on each different cause of action, but did 
not give specific forms asking the jury if any of these specific acts individually constituted 
unreasonable force.  Neither party requested such a verdict form.  Thus, there was no 
particular reason why the jurors would vote on whether a particular act constituted 
unreasonable force, other than as an informal indication of the thought processes of the 
jurors.  (The “lumping together” of the possible uses of force potentially advantaged plaintiff, 
because it created the possibility that nine jurors would agree that one or more of the 
actions constituted force, even if they did not agree on which particular action did.) 

Evidence Code section 1150(a) provides that “Upon an inquiry as to the validity of a 
verdict, any otherwise admissible evidence may be received as to statements made, or 
conduct, conditions, or events occurring, either within or without the jury room, of such a 
character as is likely to have influenced the verdict improperly. No evidence is admissible to 
show the effect of such statement, conduct, condition, or event upon a juror either in 
influencing him to assent to or dissent from the verdict or concerning the mental processes 
by which it was determined.”  

Thus, a declaration may set forth facts, but not proof of the subjective reasoning 
process of a juror.  When a deliberating juror gives a reason for his or her vote, the words are 
a verbal reflection of the juror’s mental process, and admission of the statement is barred by 
section 1150.  (People v. Lewis (2001) 26 Cal.4th 334, 389.)  The following have been found 
admissible: that a juror made erroneous statements of law that may have influenced the 
other jurors (Lankster v. Alpha Beta Co. (1993) 15 Cal.App.4th 678, 681, n. 1); that jurors 
agreed to a compromise verdict (Lauren H. v. Kannappan (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 834, 838-
842); or that jurors agreed, explicitly or implicitly, to disregard the judge’s instructions 
(People v. Williams (2001) 25 Cal.4th 441, 448-449).  Matters found inadmissible include 
statements that jurors misinterpreted the instructions (People v. Lindberg (2008) 45 Cal.4th 
1, 53); what the declarant or other jurors felt (Id.); that not all jurors agreed with the verdict 
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(Akers v Kelley Co. (1985) 173 Cal.App.4th 633, 657); or that the polling of the jurors was 
inconsistent with their actual votes. (Guernsey v. City of Salinas (2108) 30 Cal.App.5th 269, 
283.) 

Statements that the jurors agreed that “nine or more jurors agreed that the second 
tasering of Mr. Smith by Officer Parsley was excessive and unreasonable” and that they 
raised hands to so indicate are inadmissible for two reasons.  First, they are a verbal 
reflection of the jurors’ mental processes.  Second, to a significant extent they are being used 
to show that the polling of the jurors in court was inconsistent with their actual votes in the 
jury room, which is not permitted.  In reply, plaintiff argues that they are admissible as 
evidence of “overt objectively verifiable acts.”  But the fact itself is only relevant to the extent 
it tends to prove the mental process of the jurors, i.e., that nine or more of them had formed 
the opinion that Parsley’s tasing constituted unreasonable force.  Thus, they are not 
admissible. 

Even if these portions of the juror declarations were admitted, the fact that at least 
nine jurors agreed at one point in their deliberations that the second tasing was 
unreasonable, would not establish irregularity in the proceedings of the jury.   

The motion on this ground is denied. 

(2) Irregularities Due to Failure to Strike Nonresponsive Answers 

Plaintiff argues that the Court erred by allowing witnesses to give long explanations of 
answers to yes-or-no questions, requiring his counsel to cut off witnesses and make it look 
like plaintiff was hiding something.  Defense counsel aggravated the problem by specifically 
making that point in closing argument.  

With respect to the questioning of the witnesses, Evidence Code section 766 provides 
that “[a] witness must give responsive answers to questions, and answers that are not 
responsive shall be stricken on motion of any party.”  Where the answer is partly responsive, 
the court shall strike only the party of the answer that is non-responsive. (Rayii v. Gatica 
(2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 1402, 1414.)  People v. Navarro (2021) 12 Cal.5th 285, 332-333, 
recently took a strict view on this issue, holding that “[w]hen a question calls for a yes or no 
answer, the attempt to append an explanation to the answer is, strictly  speaking, 
nonresponsive.”  The witness then has “the opportunity to explain those denials on redirect 
examination.” (Id.) The procedural context, however, was that the defendant claimed that 
the inquiring prosecutor was committing misconduct by insisting on yes-or-no answers, and 
the court found that there was no misconduct. Some authorities have taken a broader view.  
“On the other hand, a witness is always entitled to explain an answer even if it calls for a ‘yes’ 
or ‘no’ answer, once that response is given.”  (Simons, California Evidence Manual (2022) [p. 
285, §3.77].)  
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 The Court did make substantial effort to have the witnesses’ answers comply with the 
Evidence Code.  While the Court did not strike testimony, in many instances, the Court 
admonished the witnesses to limit their answers, sometimes in the absence of the jury, and 
sometimes in their presence (Fonzi testimony, p. 86).  In some instances, the Court directed 
the witness to “answer it yes or no and then go ahead and explain”; “I’m not going to strike it 
but let’s stop with the narrative and have another question.”  (Parsley day 1 at 136.)  In other 
instances, the court went further:  “Again, we’ll go through the basic rules.  If we get a yes or 
no question, if you can truthfully answer it ‘yes’ or ‘no, please do that and stop, and the 
attorney on the other side can follow up with more explanations.” (Fonzi Testimony, Tr., p. 
92.)   “I will mention officer try to answer the question first and only any explanation 
necessary to fully understand your answer.  Don’t use it as simply a starting point for a 
discussion.”  (Parsley day 1 at 148-149, outside presence of jury.)  At one point, outside the 
presence of the jury, plaintiff’s counsel raised the issue, and the Court declined to strike 
anything, but said “I’d like to see it run a little more tightly for the rest of the examination.”  
(Parsley Day 2, p. 2.)  Moreover, to the extent that the Court declined to strike unresponsive 
parts of answers, if the Court had stricken the answers, they would have been covered during 
further examination by defense counsel.  Ultimately the same information would have been 
provided to the jury. 

Plaintiff claims that the jurors drew adverse inferences from the way the questioning 
proceeded.  The declarations of Jurors 2 and 4 state that “During jury deliberations, there 
was conversation and discussion regarding Mr. Smith’s attorney, Mr. Piccutta, cutting off 
witnesses while they were testifying and not allowing them to offer more testimony when 
they asked to do so.  Some jurors stated that this was because Mr. Piccuta and Mr. Smith did 
not want the jurors to know the whole story and were hiding evidence.”  These statements 
are verbal expressions of the mental processes of the jurors, and are not admissible under 
Evidence Code section 1150.  (See discussion above.) 

As to the general concern that the jury inferred that plaintiff had something to hide, 
whether based on the declarations or not, that is an unavoidable result of counsel choosing 
to seek to hold the witness to a strict version of the code: he takes the risk that the jury will 
think he is hiding something.  When plaintiff’s expert testified, also giving long, non-
responsive answers, defense counsel chose not to object, which is up to counsel as a 
strategic matter. 

As to defense counsel’s raising of this issue in closing argument, this is a fair point.  An 
objection would have led to a remedial jury instruction, but plaintiff’s counsel did not object. 

 Considering all of these issues, plaintiff has failed to show that any of the Court’s 
rulings resulted in error prejudicial to the plaintiff.  Accordingly, the Court denies the motion 
to the extent it is based on the Court’s control of the questioning under Evidence Code 
section 766. 
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(3) Sufficiency of the Evidence as to the Existence of Unreasonable Force 

A new trial may be granted on the ground of “insufficiency of the evidence to justify 
the verdict or other decision or the verdict or other decision is against law.”  (Code Civ. Proc., 
§ 657(6).)    Section 657 also provides, however, that “A new trial shall not be granted upon 
the ground of insufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict or other decision, nor upon 
the ground of excessive or inadequate damages, unless after weighing the evidence, the 
judge is convinced from the entire record, including reasonable inferences, that the judge or 
jury clearly should have reached a different verdict or decision.”  While the verdict is 
presumed correct, this means only that the judge may not arbitrarily reject a verdict that is 
supported by substantial evidence.  (Dominguez v. Pantalone (1989) 212 Cal.App.3d 201, 
216.) A judge may not grant a new trial simply because the judge would have found 
differently from the jury.  (Id.)   

At the same time, the judge is not bound by the jury’s determinations of the 
credibility of the witnesses or the weight to be given to the evidence.  (People v. Dickens 
(2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 1245, 1251.)  The judge must weigh the evidence and assess the 
credibility of the witnesses, considering the probative force of the evidence.  (Johnson & 
Johnson Talcum Powder Cases (2019) 37 Cal.App.5th 292, 337.)  The court may draw 
reasonable inferences contrary to those drawn by the jury and resolve conflicts in the 
evidence contrary to the conclusions drawn by the jury.  (Id., at 337.)  If the judge finds that 
the evidence is not sufficiently probative to sustain the verdict, the judge must order a new 
trial.  (David v. Hernandez (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 578, 588.)   

The actions that potentially constituted unreasonable force are (1) grabbing Smith by 
the arm; (2) taking Smith to the ground (on all fours); (3) kneeing Smith in the ribs (to get him 
“all the way to the ground”); (4) tasing Smith the first time; and (5) tasing Smith the second 
time.   

In considering this issue, the court points to its discussion of the evidence with regard 
to the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, with one exception.  Unlike in that 
motion, in a motion for new trial, the Court may consider the credibility of the witnesses and 
reweigh the evidence, as long as it follows the ultimate standard that the jury verdict must be 
“clearly” wrong and does not grant the motion merely because the Court would have 
reached a different verdict.  Nonetheless, weighing the evidence independently, especially 
with respect to the second tasing, given the quick real-time nature of the decision, the Court 
is not “convinced from the entire record, including reasonable inferences, that the … jury 
clearly should have reached a different verdict or decision.”  (Code Civ. Proc., § 657.)  The 
motion for new trial based on sufficiency of the evidence is denied. 
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8. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-01116 
CASE NAME:  CCI VS. HASSAN 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended CROSS-COMPLAINT 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
 The Court rules as follows on the demurrer brought by cross-defendant CCI, G.P., a California 

General Partnership (“CCI”).  The demurrer is directed to the Second Amended Cross-Complaint 

(“SAXC”) filed on May 12, 2022.  The demurrer is opposed by cross-complainants Norm Barnes, Robin 

Byerly, and SNB Development Holdings, LLC (“SNB”). 

 The demurrer is overruled as to the Eighth Cause of Action for violation of the Unfair 

Competition Law.  The demurrer is sustained without leave to amend as to all of the remaining causes 

of action that are the subject of the demurrer: the Second, Third, Sixth, Seventh, and Ninth through 

Twelfth Causes of Action.  CCI shall file an answer on or before August 26, 2022.  The basis for this 

ruling is as follows. 

 2nd C/A.  The Second Cause of Action is for breach of the implied covenant of good faith 

and fair dealing.  Cross-complaints base this cause of action on the promissory note and deed of trust 

executed by SNB.  (SAXC, ¶ 43.)  The demurrer to this cause of action is sustained without leave 

to amend. 

Cross-complainants have failed to adequately allege a breach of the implied covenant within 

the note and deed of trust, because the alleged wrongful conduct is too far outside the scope of 

specific contract terms.  (See, Racine & Laramie, Ltd. v. Department of Parks & Recreation (1992) 11 

Cal.App.4th 1026, 1031-32.)  Cross-complainants appear to be taking distinct legal theories asserted 

against CCI or other cross-defendants elsewhere in the cross-complaint, such as slander of title or 

negligence, and recasting them as breaches of the implied covenant.  The Court finds that this is 

stretching the implied covenant theory too far. 

3rd C/A.  The Third Cause of Action is for violations of the Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection 

Practices Act.  Cross-complainants do not oppose CCI’s demurrer to this cause of action.  Further, the 

alleged violations are pleaded in a manner that is impermissibly conclusory.  (SAXC, ¶ 55.)  Finally, 

the subject mortgage debt is owed by SNB, which is not a “natural person” protected by the 

Rosenthal Act.  (Civ. Code, § 1788.2, subd. (d).)  Accordingly, the demurrer to this cause of action is 

sustained without leave to amend. 

6th C/A.  The Sixth Cause of Action is for trespass.  The demurrer to this cause of action is 

sustained without leave to amend.  The Court finds that cross-complainants have not amended this 

cause of action in a manner that cures the previously identified pleading defect: the allegations of 

property torts are still impermissibly conclusory as against CCI. 

7th C/A.  The Seventh Cause of Action is for nuisance.  The demurrer to this cause of action 
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is sustained without leave to amend, for the reasons stated in the Court’s ruling on the Sixth Cause 

of Action. 

8th C/A.  The Eighth Cause of Action is for violation of the Unfair Competition Law.  

The demurrer to this cause of action is overruled. 

The Court previously overruled CCI’s demurrer to the separate cause of action for violation 

of Civil Code section 726.  That alleged statutory violation also supports a UCL cause of action.  

(See Podolsky v. First Healthcare Corp. (1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 632, 647 [“[v]irtually any state, 

federal or local law can serve as the predicate for an action under Business and Professions Code 

section 17200”].) 

CCI argues that cross-complainants have not adequately alleged a UCL cause of action 

because they allege only a single unlawful act, and not an unlawful business “practice.”  This 

argument lacks merit under established California law.  (See UFW of Am. v. Dutra Farms (2000) 

83 Cal.App.4th 1146, 1163 [“under the current version of the statute, even a single act may 

create liability”].) 

While cross-complainants have not alleged facts showing the right to restitution, they have 

alleged facts that might support injunctive relief against pursuing a foreclosure of the subject deed of 

trust.  Injunctive relief is an authorized UCL remedy. 

9th C/A.  The Ninth Cause of Action is for negligence.  The Court finds that cross-complainants 

have still failed to allege facts showing the existence of a duty of care.  (See Gill v. Mission Sav. & Loan 

Asso. (1965) 236 Cal.App.2d 753, 756-757.  See also Fox & Carskadon Financial Corp. v. San Francisco 

Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn. (1975) 52 Cal.App.3d 484, 489.)  Accordingly, the demurrer to this cause of 

action is sustained without leave to amend. 

The Commercial Standard decision on which cross-complainants rely is distinguishable, 

because there the construction lender undertook an express contractual obligation to the borrower: 

Bank agreed to disburse the loan funds to Contractor for work completed on the 

project as evidenced by inspection reports supplied by Bank employees. 

(Commercial Standard Ins. Co. v. Bank of America (1976) 57 Cal.App.3d 241, 245.)  In the case at bar, 

CCI did not undertake any express contractual obligation to make disbursements under the Hassan 

line of credit only as the remodeling project reached certain stages of progress, and did not agree that 

CCI’s employees would prepare any sort of inspection reports. 

Further, while the Commercial Standard decision has not been expressly overruled, there is 

reason to doubt its continuing validity.  As the California Supreme Court recently ruled, recognizing a 

negligence duty of care in the borrower-lender context generally runs afoul of the economic loss 

doctrine.  (See Sheen v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (2022) 12 Cal.5th 905, 914-916.)  If the economic loss 

doctrine bars a negligence cause of action against a lender by a borrower, then a fortiori it would bar 
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a negligence cause of action by strangers to the borrower’s loan. 

10th C/A.  The Tenth Cause of Action is for intentional concealment fraud.  The demurrer to 

this cause of action is sustained without leave to amend on two independent grounds. 

First, cross-complainants did not amend the fraud allegations that the Court previously found 

deficient.  The fraud that is the subject of cross-complainants’ cancellation cause of action is fraud on 

the part of cross-defendant Johansen, not fraud on the part of CCI.  Accordingly, the Court’s decision 

to overrule the demurrer as to the cancellation cause of action was not inconsistent with the Court’s 

decision to sustain the demurrer as to the fraud cause of action. 

Second, cross-complainants have not alleged facts showing the formation of a relationship 

with CCI that would give rise to a duty of disclosure.  (See Hoffman v. 162 North Wolfe LLC (2014) 228 

Cal.App.4th 1178, 1186-93.) 

11th C/A.  The Eleventh Cause of Action is captioned “Loss and Destruction of Personal 

Property.”  The demurrer to this cause of action is sustained without leave to amend, for the reasons 

stated in the Court’s ruling on the Sixth Cause of Action. 

 12th C/A.  The Twelfth Cause of Action is for conversion.  While the caption indicates that 

cross-complainants are pursuing this cause of action against all cross-defendants, the allegations 

within the cause of action are limited to alleged wrongful conduct by cross-defendants Ali Hassan and 

RH Investments, Inc.: 

… Hassan and RH Investments wrongfully and unlawfully converted the property to 

their own use by keeping possession of them with no intention of returning them, 

all in derogation of Barnes’ rights. 

(SAXC, ¶ 103.)  The demurrer to this cause of action is sustained without leave to amend, because no 

wrongful conduct is alleged against CCI. 

 Leave to Amend.  Leave to amend is denied because cross-complainants have already had 
three opportunities to plead viable causes of action.  Further, cross-complainants have not suggested 
how their cross-complaint could be further amended in a manner that would cure the pleading 
defects identified in this ruling. 
 

 

  
    

9. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-02606 
CASE NAME:  EQUITY TRACK VS. RAMOS 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE:  SET ASIDE DEFAULT & DEFAULT JUDGMENT 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Continued to September 22, 2022, due to lack of timely service.  Moving party has filed proof of 

service showing that the motion was personally served on August 3, 2022.  Plaintiff has filed 
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opposition objecting to the late service.  Under Code of Civil Procedure section 1005(b), the motion 

was required to be served 16 court days before the hearing.  When the motion was filed on July 8, 

2022, the clerk assigned August 11, 2022, as the hearing date.  Thus, service was required (if served 

by personal service), by July 20, 2022.    Accordingly, the matter is continued to September 22, 2022, 

9:00 a.m.  Defendant must serve notice of the new hearing date, if served by personal service, no 

later than August 30, 2022.  If service is by other means, days are added in accordance with section 

1005(b), e.g., five days for mail, two days for overnight mail. 

 
 

  
    

10. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC22-00418 
CASE NAME:  HUMPHREYS VS TOTAL-WESTERN, INC. 
 HEARING IN RE:  PETITION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION, DISMISS NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION, AND 
STAY THIS ACTION 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Before the Court is Defendant Total-Western, Inc.’s Petition to Compel Arbitration, Dismiss Ninth 

Cause of Action, and Stay Action.  

For the following reasons, Defendant’s Petition is granted in part and denied in part, as outlined 

below.  

Defendant’s Request for Judicial Notice is granted. (Cal. Evid. Code 452(h).) 

Factual Background: 

Plaintiff Patrick Humphreys (“Plaintiff”) worked for Defendant Total-Western, Inc. (“Defendant”) from 

approximately November 2020 through March 1, 2021. He was a non-exempt Laborer, and a union 

employee. During his employment, Plaintiff was a member of the United Steel, Paper and Forestry, 

Rubber, Manufacturing, Energy, Allied Industrial and Service Workers International Union, Local 1945 

(the “Union”.) Defendant and the Union entered into a Collective Bargaining Agreement (“CBA”), 

which was in effect during Plaintiff’s employment. The CBA contains an arbitration provision, the 

scope of which is in dispute.  

On March 2, 2022, Plaintiff filed his Class Action Complaint alleging eight causes of action: (1) failure 

to pay lawful wages (Labor Code §§ 510, 1194, 1199); (2) failure to provide lawful meal periods or 

compensation in lieu thereof (Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, IWC Wage Orders); (3) failure to provide rest 

periods or compensation in lieu thereof (Labor Code §§ 226.7, IWC Wage Orders); (4) failure to 

reimburse employee expenses (Labor Code § 2802); (5) failure to timely pay wages during 

employment (Labor Code 204); (6) failure to timely pay wages due at termination (Labor Code §§ 201-

203); (7) knowing and intentional failure to comply with itemized employee wage statement 

provisions (Labor Code § 226(b)); and (8) violation of unfair competition law (Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 

17200 et seq.).  
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On May 9, 2022, Plaintiff filed his First Amended Class Action Complaint (“FAC”) adding a ninth cause 

of action under the Labor Code Private Attorney General Act (“PAGA”) (Labor Code §§ 2699 et seq.)  

Analysis 

As discussed below, there is no dispute that there is an enforceable arbitration agreement and that it 

is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act. Defendant contends that the arbitration agreement 

applies to all nine causes of action alleged in the FAC. Accordingly, the first eight causes of action 

should be sent to arbitration, but the ninth cause of action under PAGA should be dismissed as the 

PAGA exemption found in Labor Code §2699.6 applies. Plaintiff does not appear to dispute that the 

arbitration agreement applies to seven of the causes of action (CoAs 1-3, 5-8), but claims that the 

arbitration agreement does not meet the requirements for an exemption of PAGA under Labor Code 

§2699.6. As such, the PAGA claim should not be dismissed. In addition, Plaintiff claims that the CBA 

must be stricken because the failure of the Labor Code exemption creates an unlawful waiver of a 

statutory right to a judicial forum, and it cannot be severed from the rest of the CBA. 

The Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) and Defenses to Enforcement 

 A Valid Arbitration Agreement 

The threshold issue of whether a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement exists is determined 

under California law and procedures. (Rosenthal v. Great Western Fin. Securities Corp. (1996) 14 

Cal.4th 394, 413 ("Rosenthal").) Once the existence of an arbitration agreement is established, the 

burden is on the party opposing arbitration to prove a defense to the enforcement of the agreement. 

(Alvarez v. Altamed Health Services Corp. (2021) 60 Cal.App.5th 572, 580.) The Court as the trier of 

fact weighs the evidence in reaching a final determination regarding the validity and enforceability of 

the arbitration agreement. (Id.) 

Defendant provides evidence that Plaintiff was a member of the Union, Defendant and the Union 

were parties to the CBA, Plaintiff agreed to be bound by the terms of the CBA, and the CBA contains 

an arbitration agreement which applies to this matter. (Declaration of Leonardo Crespo (“Crespo 

Decl.”) ¶3-4, Exs. A-B thereto.) Plaintiff does not dispute any of the above. Accordingly, it is 

undisputed that there is a valid and binding arbitration agreement.  

 The FAA Applies to the Arbitration Agreement 

Defendant contends that the arbitration agreement contained within the CBA is governed by the 

Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”.) The FAA applies to a “contract evidencing a transaction involving 

commerce.” (9 U.S.C. §2.) “The statute further defines ‘commerce’ to include ‘commerce among the 

several States.’” (Citizens Bank v. Alafabco, Inc. (2003) 539 U.S. 52, 56, quoting 9 U.S.C. §1.) 

Accordingly, the “FAA encompasses a wider range of transactions than those actually ‘in commerce’ -- 

that is, ‘within the flow of interstate commerce.’” (Ibid.) 

Defendant presents evidence that its business extensively involves interstate commerce, that the CBA 

is contract affecting interstate commerce, and therefore the FAA applies. (See e.g. Crespo Decl. ¶5.) 



SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
MARTINEZ, CA 

DEPARTMENT 39 
HEARING DATE:  08/11/2022 

 

 

 

 

Plaintiff does not dispute this, and appears to agree that the FAA applies. (Opp. at 3:7-10.) The Court 

agrees that the FAA applies, and will review the arbitration agreement under the FAA. 

“The court’s role under the [Federal Arbitration] act is [] limited to determining (1) whether a valid 

agreement to arbitrate exists and, if it does, (2) whether the agreement encompasses the dispute at 

issue.” (Chiron Corp. v. Ortho Diagnostic Sys. (2000) 207 F.3d 1126, 1130.) As noted above, the Court 

finds that a valid agreement to arbitrate does exist. Thus, the next step is to determine which causes 

of action it applies to.  

Application of the FAA 

“The FAA generally provides that arbitration agreements ‘shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, 

save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.” (Ritterman v. 

Amazon.com (2020) 971 F.3d 904, 909.) It manifests a strong public policy in favor or arbitration, 

requiring that courts “shall make an order directing the parties to proceed to arbitration in 

accordance with the terms of the agreement.” (9 U.S.C. §4.) 

It is undisputed that the FAA applies to contract of employment. (Circuit City Stores, Inc. v. Adams 

(2001) 532 U.S. 105, 119.) It is also undisputed that an arbitration agreement contained in a collective 

bargaining agreement is enforceable. (Cortez v. Doty Bros. Equipment Co. (2017) 15 Cal.App.5th 1 

citing 14 Penn Plaza LLC v. Pyett (2009) 556 U.S. 247, 256-57.) When a collective bargaining 

agreement includes an arbitration provision, “contractual matters under a CBA are presumed 

arbitrable; that is, arbitration must be granted as long as the CBA is reasonably susceptible to an 

interpretation in favor of arbitration.” (Ibid. citing Wright v. Universal Maritime Service Corp. (1998) 

525 U.S. 70, 79.)  

“However, the presumption of arbitration in a CBA does not apply to statutory violations.” (Cortez, 

supra, 15 Cal.App.5th at 12 citing Wright, 525 U.S. at 78-79.) In the context of statutory claims, any 

waiver of the right to pursue such claims “in a judicial forum is only effective if it is explicit, ‘clear and 

unmistakable.’” (Ibid. citing 14 Penn Plaza LLC, 556 U.S. at 254.) As the Wright Court reiterated: “We 

will not infer from a general contractual provision that the parties intended to waive a statutorily 

protected right unless the undertaking is ‘explicitly stated.’ More succinctly, the waiver must be clear 

and unmistakable.’” (Ibid. quoting Metropolitan Edison Co. v. NLRB (1983) 460 U.S. 693, 708.)  

“In determining whether there has been a sufficiently explicit waiver, the courts look to the generality 

of the arbitration clause, explicit incorporation of statutory [] requirements, and the inclusion of 

specific [] provisions.” (Vasquez v. Superior Court (2000) 80 Cal.App.4th 430, 434.) “The test is 

whether a collective bargaining agreement makes compliance with the statute a contractual 

commitment subject to the arbitration clause.” (Ibid.)  

“Broad, general language is not sufficient to meet the level of clarity required to effect a waiver in a 

[collective bargaining agreement.] (Id.at 435 quoting Carson v. Giant Food, Inc. (4th Cir. 1999) 175 

F.3d 325, 331.) The CBA “must contain a clear and unmistakable provision under which the employees 

agree to submit to arbitration all [state and federal statutory] claims.’” (Ibid. quoting Carson, 175 F.3d 
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at 332.) “A waiver in a collective bargaining agreement may also be sufficiently clear if broad, 

nonspecific language in the arbitration clause is coupled with ‘an explicit incorporation of statutory [] 

requirements’ elsewhere in the contract.” (Ibid.) If another provision “makes it unmistakably clear 

that the [] statutes at issue are part of the agreement, employees will be bound to arbitrate their 

[state and federal statutory] claims.” (Ibid.)  

With the above summary of the law, we can look to the arbitration agreement at issue in this matter.  

Arbitration Agreement  

The Arbitration Agreement section of the CBA states, in relevant part: 

“The Union and Company agree that any dispute arising out of the interpretation of 

this Agreement, shall be resolved under and in accordance with this Grievance and 

Arbitration Procedure, which includes final and binding arbitration (such grievances 

shall be known as “Contractual Grievances”). In addition, the Union and the Company 

agree and hereby acknowledge that any dispute or grievance regarding overtime, 

meal periods, rest periods or any other subject matter covered by any and all 

applicable Wage Orders issued by the California, including Wage Order 1-2001, 16-

2001, or any other applicable Wage Order, and/or by California Labor Code sections 

201-204, 226, 226.7, 510, 512, 1194.2, or 1197, and/or by any other statutes 

providing remedies for violations of the California Industrial Welfare Commission 

Wage Orders and/or the California Labor Code provisions enumerated above, are, 

processed exclusively under an in accordance with the dispute and grievance 

procedure set forth herein (such grievances shall be known as “Statutory 

Grievances”). The parties agree that the express incorporation of the California 

Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders and the California Labor Code provisions 

enumerated above into the collective bargaining agreement shall require the 

arbitration, rather than litigation, of all Statutory Grievances. Notwithstanding the 

above, this section shall not be interpreted to prevent Employees from filing claims 

for violations of California Labor Code enumerated above directly with government 

agencies, including the California Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, without 

first resorting to this Grievance and Arbitration Procedure. (Crespo Decl., Ex. B at Art. 

Seven, A. Limitations) 

 Application to Plaintiff’s Causes of Action 

Defendant argues that the Arbitration Agreement applies to the first through eighth causes of action 

(the non-PAGA claims), and thus the Court must compel arbitration as to those claims. Plaintiff does 

not appear to contest that the Arbitration Agreement applies to causes of action one, two, three, five, 

six, seven, and eight. (Opp. at III C – The Western CBA Does Not Cover All Causes of Action in 

Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint.) Instead, Plaintiff argues that cause of action four (failure to 

reimburse employee expenses – Labor Code 2802) is not covered by the Arbitration Agreement, and 



SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
MARTINEZ, CA 

DEPARTMENT 39 
HEARING DATE:  08/11/2022 

 

 

 

 

thus should not be compelled to arbitration. (Opp. at 6:25-7:5.)  

The Court notes that the Labor Code sections and IWC Wage Orders that form the basis of causes of 

action 1-3, 5-7 are all specifically listed in the Arbitration Agreement. As such, the waiver of the right 

to bring such claims in a judicial forum is “explicit, ‘clear and unmistakable.’” (Cortez, 15 Cal.App.5th 

at 12 quoting 14 Penn Plaza LLC, 556 U.S. at 254.) Accordingly, and as Plaintiff does not dispute that 

the Arbitration Agreement covers those claims, the Court finds that those claims are subject to 

individual (as explained below) arbitration. As the UCL claim is based on the violations of the above 

laws, it too is subject to the Arbitration Agreement – a position which Plaintiff did not dispute. As 

such, the UCL claim (cause of action eight) is also subject to individual arbitration.  

 Cause of Action Four – Failure to Reimburse Employee Expenses 

Plaintiff contends that the fourth cause of action for failure to reimburse employee expenses, which is 

based on a violation of Labor Code §2802, is not covered by the CBA Arbitration Agreement because 

it is nowhere mentioned therein. As Plaintiff highlights, the Arbitration Agreement states, in relevant 

part, that any dispute or grievance regarding: 

“overtime, meal periods, rest periods or any other subject matter covered by any 

and all applicable Wage Orders issued by the California, including Wage Order 1-

2001, 16-2001, or any other applicable Wage Order, and/or by California Labor Code 

sections 201-204, 226, 226.7, 510, 512, 1194.2, or 1197, and/or by any other 

statutes providing remedies for violations of the California Industrial Welfare 

Commission Wage Orders and/or the California Labor Code provisions enumerated 

above, are, processed exclusively under an in accordance with the dispute and 

grievance procedure set forth herein (such grievances shall be known as “Statutory 

Grievances”).  

The Arbitration Agreement goes on to state that the parties “agree that the express incorporation of 

the … California Labor Code provisions enumerated above into the collective bargaining agreement 

shall require the arbitration, rather than litigation, of all Statutory Grievances.” Given the above 

language, Plaintiff argues that the Arbitration Agreement “is limited to the ‘enumerated’ Wage 

Orders and Labor Codes.” As such ‘enumerated’ sections do not list claims for failure to reimburse 

employees under Labor Code 2802, it is not subject to arbitration.  

Defendant concedes that labor Code section 2802 is not specifically set forth in the CBA, but contends 

that it does not need to be. Despite Plaintiff’s argument to the contrary, in order for a waiver to be 

‘clear and unmistakable’ it does not need to specifically set forth each and every section of the Labor 

Code at issue. (Cortez, 15 Cal.App.5th at 13-15.) In Cortez, the CBA at issue did not mention the Labor 

Code at all. Id. at 13.) Instead, it stated that all claims ‘arising under’ Wage Order 16 must be 

arbitrated. (Id. at 14.)  

As the court noted, although “the Labor Code is not specifically mentioned, we cannot disregard the 

reality that an employee may enforce the protections of the wage order in court only by bringing a 
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claim under the Labor Code.” (Ibid. citations omitted.) Accordingly, the Cortez court found that to 

hold that disputes arising under a wage order are arbitrable “under the CBA only in theory, but not in 

practice because they are, by necessity, brought under the Labor Code, would result in the very 

absurdity courts are required to avoid.” (Ibid.)  

As Defendant argues, the CBA at issue requires arbitration of any disputes regarding “any other 

subject matter covered by any and all applicable Wage Orders issued by the California, including 

Wage Order 1-2001, 16-2001, or any other applicable Wage Order, … and/or by any other statutes 

providing remedies for violations of the California Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders…” 

Wage Orders 1 and 16 require employers to provide and maintain uniforms, tools, and equipment 

necessary for the performance of the job. In addition, the CBA states that the Company will “bear the 

full expense of providing all Company mandated training and certificates.” (Crespo Decl. Ex. B, Article 

Twenty-Six.) Defendant also notes that Wage Order 16 specifically mentions Labor Code 2802. 

Labor Code 2802 states, in relevant part, that an “employer shall indemnify his or her employee for 

all necessary expenditures or losses incurred by the employee in direct consequence of the discharge 

of his or her duties…” (Labor Code 2802 (a) emphasis added.) Neither of the above Wage Orders 

mention or discuss reimbursements. As Defendant highlights, the Wage Orders do mention that tools, 

equipment, and uniforms required for work will be provided by the Employer. (Wage Order 1-2001 at 

9 (A)-(B); 16-2001 at 8 (A)-(B).) There is no mention of reimbursements for any other “necessary 

expenditures or losses” that would be covered by Labor Code 2802.  

With regard to the mention of Labor Code 2802 in Wage Order 16-2001, it also is limited to the 

discussion of tools and equipment. (stating that the employer will provide tools and equipment, 

“except that an employee whose wages are at least two (2) times the minimum wage may provide 

and maintain hand tools and equipment customarily required by the particular trade or craft in 

conformity with Labor Code 2802.”) Here, the cause of action is based on Labor Code 2802, not a 

California Wage Order. “Wage Order 16-2001 does not ‘cover[] most of the [section 2802] violations 

alleged,’ and its provisions are not ‘equivalent or overlapping’ with section 2802.” (Bowerman v. Filed 

Asset Servs. (9th Cir. July 5, 2022) 39 F.4th 652.) “Although section 2802 covers ‘all necessary 

expenditures or losses incurred by the employee in direct consequence of the discharge of his or her 

duties [citation], Wage Order 16-2001 covers only ‘tools or equipment.” (Ibid.) As such, many 

expenses that Plaintiff might seek reimbursement are not covered or discussed by the Wage Orders. 

Defendants citation to, and reliance upon Wright, is misplaced. Although it is true the Wright Court 

noted that “arbitrators are in a better position than courts to interpret the terms of a CBA,” that is 

not the issue to be decided. “The dispute in the present case, however, ultimately concerns not the 

application or interpretation of any CBA, but the meaning of a [state] statute.” (Wright, supra, 525 

U.S. at 78.) “The cause of action [Plaintiff] asserts arises not out of contract, but out of the [California 

Labor Code], and is distinct from any right conferred by the collective-bargaining agreement.” (Ibid.)  

“At a minimum, the agreement must specify the statutes for which claims of violation will be subject 

to arbitration.” (Mendez v. Mid-Wilshire Health Care Center (2013) 220 Cal.App.4th 534, 456.) 
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“Moreover, post-Wright courts appear to be in agreement that a statute must specifically be 

mentioned in a CBA for it to even approach Wright’s ‘clear and unmistakable’ standard.’” (Bratten v. 

SSI Servs., Inc. (6th Cir. 1999) 185 F.3d 625, 631.) Even if the statute does not need to be specifically 

cited in the CBA, there must be at least come specific reference to the topic that statute pertains to. 

No such reference is made in the CBA at issue.  

Given the above, the CBA does not provide an “explicit, ‘clear and unmistakable,’” waiver of the right 

to a judicial forum for claims under Labor Code section 2802. (Cortez, supra, 15 Cal.App.5th at 12 

citing 14 Penn Plaza LLC, 556 U.S. at 254.) Thus, Plaintiff’s fourth cause of action for failure to 

reimburse is not subject to arbitration under the CBA.  

PAGA Waiver 

Pursuant to Labor Code section 2699.6, employees in the construction industry are not covered by 

PAGA for work that is performed under a valid CBA in effect before January 1, 2025, if certain 

conditions are met. (Cal. Labor Code §2669.6) In particular, the CBA must “expressly provide[] for the 

wages, hours of work, and working conditions of employees, premium wage rates for all overtime 

hours worked, and for the employee to receive a regular hourly pay rate of not less than 30 percent 

more than the state minimum wage rate…” (Cal. Labor Code §2669.6(a).) The CBA must also do “all of 

the following: 

(1) Prohibits all of the violations of this code that would be redressable pursuant to this part, 

and provides for a grievance and binding arbitration procedure to redress those 

violations. 

(2) Expressly waives the requirement of this part in clear and unambiguous terms. 

(3) Authorizes the arbitrator to award any and all remedies otherwise available under this 

code, provided that nothing in this section authorizes the award of penalties under this 

part that would be payable to the Labor and Workforce Development Agency.” 

Plaintiff contends that the above calls for eight separate requirements to meet the qualifications to 

avoid PAGA. These include the three enumerated requirements, as well as the CBA expressly 

providing for (1) wages, (2) hours of work, (3) working conditions of employees, (4) premium wage 

rates for all overtime hours worked, and (5) regular hourly pay rate of not less than 30 percent more 

than the state minimum wage rate. (Opp. at 8:14-9:4.)  

Of the above requirements, Plaintiff contends that the CBA “fails to meet 4 of the 8 requirements,” in 

that it fails to expressly provide for (1) the hours of work, (2) working conditions of the employees, (3) 

fails to prohibit all violations of this code redressable by PAGA, and (4) fails to expressly waive the 

requirements of PAGA in clear and unambiguous terms. (Opp. at 10:11-16.)  

As for the requirements that are not in dispute, it is clear that the CBA does provide for the wages 

(Article 11 and Wage Schedule A); premium wage rates (Article 12 and Schedule A); regular hourly 

pay rate of not less than 30 percent more than state minimum wage rate (Article 11 and Wage 
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Schedule A); and authorizes the arbitrator to award any and all remedies otherwise available under 

PAGA, except for the award of penalties that would be payable to the Labor and Workforce 

Development Agency (Article 7, Section A (3)(c).)  

As Defendant points out, the CBA does address the ‘hours of work’ in numerous places. To begin with, 

article one specifically states that the agreement governs the collective bargaining for ‘hours of work.’ 

Article twelve provides that Defendant may “establish daily work schedules of (but not limited to) 

either (8), nine (9), ten (10), or twelve (12) hours without incurring overtime…” and that construction 

work “sometimes requires shifts of seven consecutive days or more.” The CBA also outlines when 

hours are classified as premium pay, overtime, etc. Given the CBA covers hundreds, if not thousands, 

of workers throughout California, it does not require that specific shifts, i.e. start/stop times, etc., 

need to be specifically stated.  

The term “working conditions” is not defined in 2699.6. Plaintiff argues that it must include 

“provisions dealing with items like unclean/clean drinking water; lack of ventilation; or adequate 

water amid intense heat, etc.” Defendant maintains that ‘working conditions’ relate to “those 

conditions determined by the employer as a condition of employment,” citing to an unpublished and 

uncitable case discussing a different statute. (It is also worth noting that Defendant also cites to the 

legislative history for Assem. Bill 1654 without providing a copy thereof.)  

Plaintiff’s reading of the term ‘working conditions’ is too restrictive. The Legislature could not have 

meant to have the CBA list all possible conditions that could occur at various worksites. Instead, it is 

more reasonable that the ‘working conditions’ that should be addressed relate to the general 

requirements related to the various jobs covered by the CBA. For example, the attire, breaks, meals 

and rest periods, and workplace safety procedures – which are outlined in the instant CBA. This is a 

more plausible reading of what is meant by the phrase ‘working conditions.’ 

Plaintiff next argues that the CBA does not explicitly prohibit all violations of the Labor Code that 

would be redressable pursuant to PAGA and that it does not expressly waive the requirements of 

Labor Code 2699.6. The CBA does, however, provide for the ability to pursue alleged violation of the 

Labor Code that are redressable under PAGA “to ensure application of the Exemption.” Although 

there is not a direct statement that “violations of the Labor Code are prohibited,” as Defendant points 

out, any such statement would “be superfluous as Defendant is already required to comply with 

California law.” There is a mechanism for redressing violations of Labor Code violations covered by 

PAGA – that is through arbitration.  

As for the waiver of the requirements of PAGA, while the CBA does not contain the words “waive the 

requirements of PAGA,” it does state: “The Parties agree that the terms of this Agreement meet all 

conditions for application of the Exemption in AB 1654 [i.e. Labor Code 2669.6.]” This wording is a 

clear waiver of the requirements of PAGA and an agreement between the Parties that the exemption 

of Labor Code 2699.6 should apply.  

As the Court finds that the PAGA exemption applies, Plaintiff’s arguments regarding striking of the 



SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
MARTINEZ, CA 

DEPARTMENT 39 
HEARING DATE:  08/11/2022 

 

 

 

 

CBA are overruled.  

Class Action Waiver 

The Complaint purports to bring claims on behalf of a putative class of non-exempt employees in 

California. However, as noted by Defendant, the CBA includes a class arbitration waiver. (Crespo Decl. 

Ex. B at Article 7(d).) Under the FAA, courts are “to enforce arbitration agreements according to their 

terms – including terms providing for individualized proceedings.” (Epic Sys. Corp. v. Lewis (2018) 138 

S.Ct. 1612, 1619; see also Stolt-Nielsen S.A. v. AnimalFeeds Int’l Corp. (2010) 559 U.S. 662, 684 holding 

that a “party may not be compelled under the FAA to submit to class arbitration unless there is a 

contractual basis for concluding that the party agreed to do so.”)  

Here, not only is there no agreement to allow class arbitration, there is an explicit waiver of any class 

arbitration. As such, Plaintiff has waived his ability to assert class claims in arbitration. Thus, each of 

the claims that is subject to arbitration must be brought in an individual capacity.  

Stay of Proceedings 

Under the FAA, if claims in a matter are referable to arbitration, upon the application of a party, the 

court shall stay the proceedings pending the outcome of the arbitration. (9 U.S.C. §3.) Defendant 

requests that this matter be stayed pending conclusion of the arbitration. The Court agrees, and stays 

this matter pending resolution of the arbitration.  

Summary 

Given the above, Defendant’s petition to compel arbitration is granted in part and denied in part. 
The Parties are ordered to submit causes of action one, two, three, five, six, seven, and eight to 
arbitration, on an individual basis, in accordance with Arbitration Agreement contained in the CBA. 
The ninth cause of action relating to the PAGA claims is dismissed. The sole remaining cause of action 
for failure to reimburse employees (cause of action four) is stayed pending outcome of the 
arbitration. 
 

 

  
    

11. 9:01 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-02089 
CASE NAME:  VILLANUEVA VS. RABOBANK 
 *HEARING ON MOTION FOR DISCOVERY  TO COMPEL COMPLIANCE W DEF AGREEMENT TO 
PRODUCE DOCS 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Continued by stipulation of counsel to October 13, 2022 at 9:30 a.m.  
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CASE NAME:  VILLANUEVA VS. RABOBANK 
 SPECIAL SET HEARING  INFORMAL DISCOVERY CONFERENCE 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Continued by stipulation of counsel to October 13, 2022 at 9:30 a.m. 
 
 

 

  

 


